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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY
SOUTHERN DIVISION
PIKEVILLE

CIVIL ACTION NO. 7:16-CV-251-EBA

RAVI RAITHATHA, PLAINTIFF,
V. MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
UNIVERSITY OF PIKEVILLE, et al., DEFENDANTS.

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff, Ravi Raithatha, brought this amtialleging that Defendants—the University of
Pikeville d/b/a/ the Kentucky College of Osteopathic Medicine, Dr. Boyd Buser, and Dr. Tracy
Soltesz—discriminated against him on the basifisfrace and national origin when he was
expelled from the University of Pikeville’s Collegf Osteopathic Medicine. [R. 1-2; R. 1-1 at 3—
6]. Defendants seek summary judgment, [R. @A the matter has been fully briefed. For the
reasons that follow, this Court will grantettibefendants’ Motion foSummary Judgment and
dismiss this action with prejudice.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND & PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Prior to his admission to the University Bikeville Kentucky College of Osteopathic
Medicine, hereinafter “the Cobhe,” Plaintiff had been expetlefrom the Touro College of
Osteopathic Medicine for poor academic parfance. [R. 37-1 at 5 § 2 (citing R. Eeposition
of Ravi Raithathaat 8-9);see alsdR. 35-1 at 6, 8]. Plaintiff was admitted to the College for the
fall 2012 semester, but, because of his acaddmstory, his admission was permitted only
following the completion of multiple courses Bastern Kentucky University and a personal

meeting with Dr. Buser, where Plaintiffs academic integrity and personal character were
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evaluated. [R. 37-1 at 6 3, 4]aRitiff's performance for the fitdwo years of h§ attendance at
the College was satisfactory. [R. 33 at 28-29].

During the spring 2015 semester, as a parhisfthird-year curculum, Plaintiff was
required to complete clinical tations at Grandview Medical Cemntin Dayton, Ohio. While there,
he was required to recohils activities in a “log” for purposed grading. [R. 37-1 at6 { 2; R. 37-
8 at 12, (citing R. 33)eposition of Ravi Raithathat 10)]. Plaintiff falsified his case logs for that
clinical rotation, and he admitted as much befthe College’s Promotion and Matriculation
Committee at a hearing on April 8, 2015. [R. 33t12; R. 37-12 (I sbuld never have logged
days in which | was not working in the office, aagtee that | should be punished for my actions.”);
R. 42 at 2 (“Plaintiff admitted his error.”)J.he following day, the Committee recommended that
Raithatha be given a failing grade, placed on temporary academic probation, permanent
disciplinary probation, suspended from the Collégesix months, and required to enroll in an
ethics course. [R. 37-6; B7-11; R. 37-12; R. 37-13].

Before the punishments were finally impds Plaintiff appealed the Committee’s
recommendation to Dr. Buser by submitting a ledtest making a personal appearance. [R. 37-12;
R. 37-13]. On May 4, 2015, theaommended punishments were appd by Dr. Buser as within
the authority of the Promotion arMatriculation Committee. [R. 37-13%ee alsoR. 37-6 at 7
(outlining the Promotion and Matulation Committee’s authority founish troubled students)].

Although Plaintiff remained on academic ansbiblinary probation, he was removed from
his suspension five months early, on June 1852(R. 37-14; R. 42-1]. DiSoltesz worked with
Raithatha to aid him in enrolling in the ethasurse required by the Promotion and Matriculation
Committee and Dr. Buser. [R. 37-15]. And, on resjuPlaintiff was permitted by Dr. Buser to

resume clinical rotations tite Hazard ARH Regional Medic@enter on August 31, 2015, months



ahead of schedule. [R. 35 at 24, 29 { 15-16; RI&R. 42-3]. Before he could perform his
rotations, however, Hazard ARH Regional MediCanter required Plaintiff to pass a drug test.
[R. 35 at 31 T 1-Gsee alsdR. 37-8 at 10; R. 33 at 40]. Riaiff failed. [R. 35-27; R. 35 at 31].

Due to the fact that Plaintiff failed &zard ARH’s drug test, Hazard ARH dismissed
Plaintiff from its campus, and Plaintiff was unable to completechmical rotation. [R. 35 at 31
15-17]. Plaintiff was again called for a hearinfpoe the Promotion and Matriculation Committee
on September 23, 2015. [R. 35 at 33-36; R. 37-EB]lowing the hearing—where Plaintiff
admitted to using drugs while already on academndisciplinary probation, and suspended from
the College—the Committee recommended his expul4R. 35 at 33—-36; R. 37-19; R. 37-1 at
12 (“I mean what you said is true . . . | know it véasuge mistake . . . | didf]. Plaintiff appealed
the Committee’s recommendation to Dr. Buserd on October 13, 2015, Dr. Buser met with him
to discuss the appeal. [R. 35 at 36  10-11; R. 37-19; R. 32@]sdr. 37-6 at 4-5 (indicating
the use of drugs to be in direct contraventdrCollege policy)]. Dr. Buser upheld Plaintiff's
expulsion as within the authority of the Proroatand Matriculation Committee. [R. 35 at 37 | 6—
8; R. 37-20see alsdR. 37-6 at 6-8 (outlininghany reasons for which students may be expelled
from the College, including “[flailure of more dh one clinical rotation”); R. 37-8 at 10 (“A
positive [drug] test result may become grounds for dismissal.”)].

Thereafter, Plaintiff filed this suit, allegirtte was “subject to digpate treatment due to
his race and national ong” [R. 1-1 at 4 T 15].

SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

“A party may move for summgjudgment, identifying each claim or defense—or the part
of each claim or defense—on which summary judgtris sought.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). “The

court shall grant summary judgment if the movdnaves that there is no genuine dispute as to any



material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of ldwih making the
determination as to whether summary judgmentaganted, “a court must view the evidence ‘in
the light most favorable to the opposing partyi8lan v. Cotton134 S.Ct. 1861, 1866 (2014)
(quoting Adickes v. S.H. Kress & C®898 U.S. 144, 157 (1970)). “Where the record taken as a
whole could not lead a rationaldr of fact to find for the namoving party, there is no genuine
issue for trial.”ld. (quotingMatsushita Elec. Industrial Co. v. Zenith Radio Cod¥.5 U.S. 574,
587 (1986)). In such a case, summary judgment is warrafkgidama v. North Carolina560
U.S. 330, 344 (2010xee also Celotex Corp. v. Catret77 U.S. 317, 322 (1986Anderson v.
Liberty Lobby, Inc.477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986).

“[A] party seeking summary judgment alwaysars the initial responsibility of informing
the district court of tla basis for its motion.Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323 (1986).
But there is “no express or implied requiremariRule 56 that the morg party support its motion
with affidavits or other similar materiatseegatingthe opponent’s claim.Id. As such, in some

cases, the moving party may be “entitled to a judgt as a matter of law’ because the nonmoving
party has failed to make a sufficient showing oreasential element of her case with respect to
which she has the burden of proadid. (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 56). Such a motion “therefore
requires the nonmoving party gm beyond the pleadings and by legvn affidavits, or by the
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, designate specific facts showing
that there is a genuine issue for tridd”’ at 324 (internal quotation marks omitted). This is so
because “[o]ne of the principal purposes of themiary judgment rule is to isolate and dispose of
factually unsupported aims or defensesld. at 323—-24. “[T]he existenaaf a mere scintilla of

evidence in support of the non-moving party’sifpos will not be sufficient; there must be

evidence on which the jury could reasbly find for the non-moving party Sutherland v. Mich.



Dept. of Treasury344 F.3d 603, 613 (6th Cir. 2003) (citiAgderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&77
U.S. 242, 251 (1986)).

. COUNT ONE: KENTUCKY CIVIL RIGHTSACT

Defendant alleges the University of Pikevillereinafter “the University,” and thus the
College by implication, is a public accommodation under K.R.S. § 344.130, [R. 1-1 at 2 § 21]; that
“[a]s a public accommodation, the Defendant cannatraninate against the Plaintiff due to his
race or national origin,”Ifl. at 2 § 22]; that “the dismissaf the Plaintiff by the Defendant UP-
KYCOM subjected the Plaintiff tdesperate (sic) discipline dueh race and national origin,”

[Id. at 3 § 23]; and that “[t]he dismissal of tR&intiff from the Defendat University violated
K.R.S. 8§ 344.130” and caused Plaintiff to incur damadeésaf 1 25].

A. Whether the College is a Public Accommodation for
Purposes of the Kentucky Civil Rights Act

K.R.S. 8§ 344.130 defines public accommoniagi as “any place, store, or other
establishment, either licensedwnicensed, which supplies goodsservices to the general public
or which solicits or accepts thgatronage or trade of the general public or which is supported
directly or indiretly by government funds.” K.R.S. 8§ 344.1B@wever, goes on to exclude private
clubs, certain small “boarding houses,” amdigious institutions from its ambitd. K.R.S. §
344.130 is but a section of a much larger body of law, the Kentucky Civil Rights Act (the “Act”).
K.R.S. § 344.01@t seq.Kentucky courts have “cotrsed the Act liberally. " Commonwealth of
Kentucky v. Pendennis Club, Ing53 S.W.3d 784, 78Ky. 2004). (citingDep't of Corr. v. Furr,
Ky., 23 S.W.3d 615, 617 (Ky. 2000pee alsdloyota Motor Mfg., U.S.A., Inc. v. Eppersédb
S.w.2d 413, 415 (Ky. 1997). “Exceptions to thet's coverage are interpreted narrowlyd.
(citing Kreate v. Disabled Am. Veterarni33 S.W.3d 176, 181 (Ky. Ct. App. 2000)). K.R.S. §

344.020, the defining provision of tiiet, requires a brahstatutory interpreten of the Act to



fully effectuate its purposeBendennis Club, Inc153 S.W.3d at 787. That section provides the
following statement:

The general purposes tfis chapter are:

To safeguard all individuals within theat from discrimination because of familial

status, race, color, religion, national onigsex, age forty (4@nd over, or because

of the person's status as a qualifiedvidiial with a disability as defined in KRS

344.010 and KRS 344.030; thereby to proteeirtimterest in personal dignity and

freedom from humiliation, to make avdla to the state their full productive

capacities, to secure the state agadwnestic strife and unrest which would
menace its democratic institutions, to pregsd¢he public safety, health, and general
welfare, and to further the interest, righaad privileges ofridividuals within the

state. . . .

K.R.S. § 344.020(1)(b). The same section, at 88) py(vides the Act is tbe interpreted “within
the state of the policies embodied in the Americans with Disabities Act of 1990 (P.L. 101-
336).” Id. The Americans with Disabilities Act provides “[tlhe following private entities are
considered public accommodations for purposeshisf subchapter, if the operations of such
entities affect commerce . . . a nursery, elementary, secondary, undergradpastg@duate
private schoqlor other place of education.” 423JC. 12181(7)(J) (emphasis added).

The Kentucky Court of Appeals “interpfgt KRS 344.130 as creating a two-prong test for
determining what constitutes a place of public accommodatkms. ex rel. B.M. v. Fayette
County Public Schoo|2003 WL 21771952, 4* (Ky. Ct. App. 2003)nder the Kentucky test, a
“place of public accommodation is: [1] any place, star other establishment; that [2] either (a)
supplies goods or services to the general pufidicsolicits or accepts patronage or trade of the
general public; or (c) is supported directly atinectly by government funds.” Some schools have
been interpreted as a place of public accommodation under the Kentucky Civil Rights Act.

5. Nonetheless, the parties to this case havalfmldemonstrate whether a private school may or

may not be a public accommodation solely for thgpse of the application of the Kentucky Civil



Rights Act. Because the parties have not conclusively so shown either outcome, this Court takes
no position on the question of whether the Univeysit private schools generally, may be a public
accommodation for the sole purpose of applicatienKentucky Civil Rights Act. In any event,
such a finding is unnecessary: for even ifltlmeversity were a publiaccommodation for purposes
of the Act, Plaintiff's claims remain insufficient for relief.

B. Whether Plaintiff Statesa Claim Under the Kentucky Civil Rights Act

First, although Plaintiff argsehis claim arises under K.R.S. 8 344.130, [R. 1-1], this Court
will note that K.R.S. § 344.130 defines pubiccommodations, but does not forbid their
discriminatory behavior. IR.S. 8§ 344.120 forbids discriminatory behavior by public
accommodations as defined by K.R.S. 8§ 344.130. that reason, this Court will evaluate
Plaintiff's claim as if it had beeproperly filed under K.R.S. § 344.120.

The violation of K.R.S. § 344.120 is a “sghtforward proposition in situations where a
person is ordered off the premises of a busirestablishment otherveiopen to the public, or
service is otherwise refused or limited, for remson except the person’s protected status.”
Lexington Fayette Urban Cnty. Human Rights Comm.rHands on Originals, In¢.2017 WL
2211381, 5* (Ky. Ct. App. 2017). “A university could nfiif example, refuse to enroll a student
because the student is Hispanid. Although distinct in arisinginder state—not federal—law,
claims under K.R.S. § 344.120 “should be analydadhe same framework” as one arising under
42 U.S.C. § 1981Miller v. Freedom Waffles, Inc2007 WL 628123, 5* (W.D. Ky. 2007)
(Heyburn, J.)see also Camara v. Schwan's Food Mfg., I8ase No. 04-121, 2005 WL 1950142
(E.D. Ky. 2005) (noting simildties between the Kentucky @l Rights Act and Section 1981).
“[T]he Court is unable to find any @cedent that would dictate otherwis#filler, 2007 WL

628123, 5*. Again, assuming without finding that theiversity is a public accommodation for



purposes of the Kentucky Civil Rights Act, thist shall analyze Plairitis claims under K.R.S.
8 344.120 as if they had been filed under Section 1981.

The Sixth Circuit “has held that to prevail in a claim of race discrimination under § 1981
relying on circumstantial evidence, a plaintiff mostet the burden-shiftinggandard of proof for
Title VII cases established by the Supreme Co@hfistian v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc252 F.3d
862, 868 (6th Cir. 2001xee alsavicDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greedll U.S. 792 (1973), and
Texas Dep’t of Community Affairs v. Burdirlb0 U.S. 248 (1981).” “bder this standard, a
plaintiff must first esablish a prima facie case of disgination by a preponderance of the
evidence."Christian, 252 F.3d at 868. “The burden of prodoatithen shifts to the defendant,”
who must provide a “legitimate, non-discriminatory” purpose for the allegedly discriminatory
behaviorld. “To prevail, the plaintiff must then prou® a preponderance of the evidence that the
defendant's proffered reasomist its true reason butpaetext for discrimination.Td. It follows
that where the plaintiff cannothbiet the defendant’s claims by a preponderance of the evidence,
the plaintiff's claims will necessarily fail.

Various tests for a prima facie case undextien 1981 have been established by the Sixth
Circuit underMcDonnell Douglaseach incorporating the minutid unique scenarios. “While §
1981 is generally invoked in the employment eantfor, e.g., claims of hostile environment,
failure to promote, or wrongfudismissal, litigants have aldwought suit undethe statute for
claims of discrimination in retail and service settindgd.”But no test has ever been developed in
the Sixth Circuit “for a prima facie case ofdiimination under § 1981 outs of the employment
context.”ld. This is no matter, however, for “[tjidcDonnell Douglagormulation ‘was never

intended to be rigid, mechanizedt, ritualistic. Rather, it is merely a sensible, orderly way to



evaluate the evidence.Daugherty v. City of Danville, Ky856 F.2d 193, 6* (6th Cir. 1988)
(quotingFurnco Constr. Corp. v. Waterd38 U.S. 567, 577 (1978)).

McDonnell Douglas—a failure to hire case—outlined the traditional standard by which a
prima facie case is eslained under Section 1981

The complainant in a Title VII trial musarry the initial burdn under the statute

of establishing a prima facie case of adiscrimination. This may be done by

showing (i) that he belongs to a racmalnority; (ii) that he applied and was

gualified for a job for which the employer wiaeeking applicants; (iii) that, despite

his qualifications, he was rejected; and) ({ihat, after higejection, the position

remained open and the employer contintedeek applicants from persons of

complainant's qualifications.
McDonnell Douglas411 U.S. 792, 802. This test has beeapted to the employee discharge
context, which is analogous, though not preciselyivalent, to this case. In a discharge case, a
Section 1981 claimant must show (1) that he or she is a member of a protected class, (2) that he or
she suffered an adverse action, (3) that he or sheualified for their position, and (4) that he or
she was replaced by or treated differently than similarly situated members of the unprotected class.
Warfield v. Lebanon Correctional Instl81 F.3d 723, 728-29 (6th Cir. 199&xcegovich v.
Goodyear Tire & Rubber Cp154 F.3d 344, 350 (6th Cir. 1998)forvay v. Maghielse Tool &
Die Co, 708 F.2d 229, 233 (6th Cir. 1983). The plaintiffeguired to “demonstrate that he or she
is similarly-situated to the non-protedtemployee in all levant respects Ercegovich 154 F.2d
353. “Failure to prove any one of these elements by a preponderance of the evidence mandates a
dismissal of the plaintiff's suitMorvay, 708 F.2d at 233.

Plaintiff has established thhe is a member of a protecteldss. Plaintiff is an African-
American male with Indian heritage. [R. 37-1 &t . Plaintiff has also shown that he was subject

to adverse action, including his eventual expums[R. 35 at 33-36; R. 37-12; R. 37-11; R. 37-13;

R. 37-19]. But this was only after Plaintiff admitted to falsifying his clinical rotation logs—thereby



failing his pediatric rotation for cheating—and tremitted to having abused drugs after having
already been suspended and placed on acadenhidisciplinary probation for said cheating. [R.
37-12 (“l should never have loggddys in which | was not workinig the office, and agree that
| should be punished for my actions.”); R. 37-1L 2l mean what you said is true . . . | know it
was a huge mistake [to abuse drugdevbn probation and suspension] | did it.”)]. It is for this
reason that Plaintiff fails to &blish the third element of aipra facie case under the Kentucky
Civil Rights Act: that he was qualifiefor his position at the College.

“A plaintiff must do more than simply impugnehegitimacy of the asserted justification
for her termination.”"Warfield v. Lebanon Correctional Inst181 F.3d 723 (6th Cir. 1999).
Plaintiff has not. Plaintiff had notcthat cheating and the abuselnigs were in violation of the
policies of the College. Such was includedthe Handbooks Plaintiff was provided. [R. 37-6,
College Student Handboglat 4-8 (outlining manyeasons for which students may be expelled
from the College, including “[flailure of moréhan one clinical rotation”); R. 37-&ollege
Clinical Rotations Manualat 10 (“A positive [drug] testresult may become grounds for
dismissal.”)]. Plaintiff acknowledgehis notice of these College wi¢s, and the prohibition of
his adverse behaviors. [R. 37-¢2should have followed the teer of the Student Handbook.”);
see alsR. 37-6 at 6-8; R. 37-8 at 10]. Riaff also admitted to both cheatiagd abusing drugs.
[R. 37-12; R. 37-1 at 1X%eeR. 35 at 92, 119-121]. Either violation on its own was sufficient
grounds for potential expulsion from the College.3R-6 at 6-8; R. 37-8 at 10]. In such a case—
in the presence of admitted policy violationghoaf which were adequate grounds for expulsion—
Plaintiff cannot legitimately claim that he wagalified to remain enrolled at the College.

Plaintiff has also failed to demonstrate fbarth element of a prima facie case under the

Kentucky Civil Rights Act: that hevas replaced by ordated differently than a similarly situated

10



member of an unprotected cla¥garfield v. Lebanon Correctional Instl81 F.3d 723, 728-29
(6th Cir. 1999). Plaintiff noteis his Response to Defendants’ tibm for Summary Judgment that
three students aside from Plaintiff received DUIsvere otherwise arrested while attending the
College. [R. 42 at 8]. Plaintiff fails to show, howeyvthat these arrests were due to the abuse of
drugs, rather than merely alcoh@@dmpareR. 37-6 at 4 (permitting the use of alcohol on campus
in limited situations, and not baringaff campus to those of legal agejith id. at 5 (baring the
use of drugs and noting the usé‘idégal drugs is subject to digdinary action.”). Plaintiff also
fails to allege that any of these students committed those offenses while already subject to
disciplinary and academic probation following théui@ of a course for cheating, and the early
return from suspension from the College for the sgRe42 at 8]. Dr. Busein fact, testified at

his deposition that no other student at the Colleag ever committed equivalent violations. [R.
33 at 62]. Plaintiff also makesdbe allegations without evidencesimpport of his statements. [R.
42 at 8]. Plaintiff has ntner attached documents to suppos mMopositions, natited his source

of knowledge. [d.; but seeR. 34 at 16 § 7-18  5].

It is well-established that a moving party may “entitled to a judgment as a matter of
law’ because the nonmoving party has failed to naakefficient showingn an essential element
of her case with respect to whishe has the burden of prooE&lotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S.
317, 323 (1986) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 56). A ®i#i“must produce sufficient evidence from
which the jury may reasonably rejetite [defendant’s] explanationManzer v. Diamond
Shamrock Chemicals G&9 F.3d 1078, 1083 (6th Cir.1994). Pldfritas failed to establish two
elements of a prima facie case under the Kent@iky Rights Act. Such an unfounded claim is

not sufficient to overcome the standafdeview for a summary judgment motiddutherland v.

Mich. Dept. of Treasury344 F.3d 603, 613 (6th Cir. 2003)s such, Plaintiff's claim under the

11



Kentucky Civil Rights Act is insufficient forelief and Defendants are entitled to summary
judgement as a matter of laMiller v. Freedom Waffles, Inc2007 WL 628123, 5* (W.D. Ky.
2007) (Heyburn, J.Morvay v. Maghielse Tool & Die Cor08 F.2d 229, 233 (6th Cir. 1983).

[I. COUNT TWO: X1V AMENDMENT DUE PROCESSRIGHTS

Plaintiff alleges that the Unérsity, and thus the College byiplication, violated his due
process rights under the FourteeAthendment of the United Stat€snstitution. Plaintiff asserts
that Defendants denied Plaintfffocedural Due Process in his dismissal from the University,
causing him economic damages as well as embareassmd humiliation. [R1-1]. Plaintiff prays
that this “Court find the Defendant violatecetRlaintiff's right to Due Process under thé"14
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution enforced by 42 U.S.C. § 1983 when Defendant dismissed
him from the University.” [d.].

It is true that the Due Process Clausetlid Fourteenth Amendment guarantees fair
procedure, or procedural due process, wheneeee tls an unjustified deprivation of some right
or benefit by a state actatinermon v. Burch494 U.S. 113, 125 (1990). “[T]he injury caused by
a justified deprivation, including distress, istnaroperly compensable under § 198B4rey v.
Piphus 435 U.S. 247, 263 (1978) (emphasis addedl) see idat 266—67 (“[W]e believe that the
denial of procedural due process should b@aatle for nominal damages without proof of actual
injury.”). The initial inquiry ofa Section 1983 action further limits the remedy’s application. Two
elements must be “present: (1) whether thedoat complained of was committed by a person
acting under color of state law; and (2) whetherd¢brsduct deprived a person of rights, privileges,
or immunities secured by the Constitution or laws of the United St&Resatt v. Taylor 451

U.S. 527, 535 (1981pverruled on other grounds by Daniels v. Williamg4 U.S. 327, 330-31

12



(1986) (negligence is insufficient for a due process violation). ,TBestion 1983, and the
Fourteenth Amendment generallyeamly applicable to actions fhirattributable to the state.

“[T]lhe Fourteenth Amendment, which ghrbits the states from denying federal
constitutional rights and which guataes due process, applies to aftthe states, not to acts of
private persons or entitiesRendell-Baker v. Kohm57 U.S. 830, 837-38 (1982) (citiljvil
Rights Casesl09 U.S. 3, 11 (1883ghelley v. KraemeB34 U.S. 1, 13 (1948)). “In cases under
§ 1983, ‘under color’ of law has consistently beeratied as the same thiag the ‘state action’
required under the Fourteenth Amendmeldhited States v. Pric&83 U.S. 787, 794, n. 7 (1966).
As such, private parties may notdeject to suit for a wlation of a plaintiffs right to procedural
due process unless “the alleged infringement of fédgras [is] ‘fairly attributable to the State.™
Rendell-Baker457 U.S. at 838 (quotirigugar v. Edmondson Oil Co457 U.S. 922, 937 (1982)).
“[T]he deprivation must be caused by the exeroiseome right or privilege created by the state
or by a rule of conduct imposed by the state oalperson for whom the State is responsible.”
Lugar, 457 U.S. at 937. And “the party charged vitie deprivation must be a person who may
fairly be said to be a state actoid’

Although “[i]t is undisputed tat [] Fourteenth Amendment protections, codified in 42
U.S.C. § 1983, are triggered only in the prese of state actionya private entitycanbe held to
constitutional standardd.’ansing v. City of Memphi202 F.3d 821, 828 (6th Cir. 2000) (emphasis
added). This is so, however, if and only if spcivate entity’s “actions sapproximate state action
that they may be fairly attributed to the statd.”(citing Lugar, 457 U.S. at 937). “The Supreme
Court in Lugar identified a two-part appezh to the question of “faittribution,” effectively
requiring that the action be takéa) under color of state laand (b) by a state actoid.; see also

Lugar, 457 U.S. at 937. The Sixth Quit applies “three s to help in determining when the

13



Lugar conditions are met. These af&) the public functio test; (2) the stammpulsion test; and
(3) the symbiotic relationship or nexus tesd.”The public function testequires that ‘the private
entity exercise powers which are traditionally exidlely reserved to the state, such as holding
elections or eminent domain.Td. (quoting Wolotsky v. Huhn960 F.2d 1331, 1335 (6th
Cir.1992)). “The state compulsionsterequires that a state ‘egese such coercive power or
provide such significant encouragement, either amecbvert, that in law the choice of the private
actor is deemed to be that of the statiel."(quotingWolotsky 960 F.2d at 1335). Finally, “[ulnder
the nexus test, the action of a e party constitutes state action when there is a sufficiently close
nexus between the state and thallemged action of the regulatedtiignso that the action of the
latter may be fairly treated as that of the state itsklf.{internal citations omitted). “If the action
of the respondent school is not state action,imguiry ends,” and the court need not reach the
guestion of whether there was a deprivation of a legally or constitutionally protecteBegdell-
Baker v. Kohn457 U.S. 830, 838 (1982).

The University fails to qualify as a state actor under each of these tests. First, the University
fails under the public function tegthe University performs no futions traditionally exclusively
reserved to the state; the University neithedbglublic elections nor excises imminent domain.
Further, the University has always been pevdR. 4 at 1 11; R. 37-1 at 2 T 2]. Second, the
University fails under the state mopulsion test. It is true thahe University receives some
government funding, but this funding is minimdillhe only government funds the University
receives comes in the form sfudent loans and financiadaigrants, and some USDA building
loans.” [R. 37-1 at 21 (citing R. 33 at 9—10 (]ti€ operating budget would be—the federal portion,
federal support portion of that would be, I'm sure, less than five peigeriWhere the funding

received by the government is insufficiemt its own—5% of the overall operating budget—of

14



being used to compel the University to takg apecific action, and there no other formal state
association, [R. 37-1 at 2 | 2], tbaiversity cannot be said totgdy the state compulsion test.

Finally, the University fails under the nexustteThe nexus test may be the most flexible
of the three tests herein discussBdrton v. Wilmington Parking Auth365 U.S. 715 (1961),
assures a generally broad interpretation of the niaisThere, a privately owned restaurant was
deemed to be an agent of the state when it barred a man of color from entry, where the restaurant
was merely located within a state-owned parking garédyeDespite this generally broad
interpretation, however, the Supreme Court hasddfthe test narrowly with regard to private
schools.Rendell-Baker v. Kohr57 U.S. 830, 830-32 (1982), found a private school—where
“nearly all” of the studnts were referred by a state agenieg school was hedy regulated under
state laws, and public funding “accounted for attl®88%6, and in one year 99%, of [the] school’s
operating budget”—to be a private actor for pugsosf the Fourteenthmendment and Section
1983. Thus, a private school’s disolpa decisions are not attributalbdethe state, even where the
school is extensively populated, regulatadd funded by the state, unless some other factor
dictates otherwiséRendell-Baker v. Koh@57 U.S. at 840 (cited inansing v. City of Memphis
202 F.3d 821, 830 (6th Cir. 2000)). HeRendell-Bakedispenses with the entire Fourteenth
Amendment question. The University may receivelipdbnds, but the University is not an agent
of the government. [R. 37-1 at 21; R. 33 at 9-E0private “school’s redpt of public funds does
not make the discharge dsicins acts of the Statdd. Thus, “our inquiry ends.Id. at 838.

Plaintiff alleges there is some support tddnend for the proposition that the University is
a state actor in various opinionstbé courts. Each of these, howeus distinguishable from the
case at bar or supports a findinghtrary to the one Plaintiff seeks. [R. 42 at 10]. For example,

Spark v. Catholic Univ. of Americ&10 F.2d 1277 (D.C. Cir. 1975),d@ed to find state action
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on behalf of a private univergjteven where that private unregy received public funding. “The
fact the Federal Government contributes fundsiéoUniversity, by itself, is insufficient to show
the exercise of influence on University da@on-making or the encouragement of specific
policies. Id. at 1282;accord Rendell-Baker v. Kohm57 U.S. at 840Belk v. Chancellor of
Washington Uniy.336 F. Supp. 45 (E.D. Mo. 1970), dealt with the suppression of the educational
opportunities of a general student body where th@®no basis to do so, not with the discipline
of a specific, troubled studen¢. Brown v. Strickler422 F.2d 1000 (6th Cir. 1970), pertained to
the University of Louisville, which is an ergly public university, unlike the University of
Pikeville, which is entirely pvate. [R. 37-1 at 2  2]. Andansing v. City of Memphi202 F.3d
821 (6th Cir. 2000), applyinBendell-Baker v. Kohri57 U.S. 830 (1982)—as discussed—Ileads
to the determination that the University was eogaged in state action, at least not in this
particular case. As such, neither the FourteAntendment nor Section 198an be said to apply.
Not even under the cases Plaintiff cites in his favor.

[11. COUNT THREE: SECTION || OF THE KENTUCKY CONSTITUTION

Plaintiff's final claim arises under Sectiondf the Kentucky Corgution. “Article 1l of
the Kentucky Constitution prohibits arbitrarydacapricious conducted (sic) by the Defendant,”
[R. 1-1 at 5 § 34]; “[tlhe Defendant['s] applicatiah the student code is (sic) a desperate (sic)
manner toward the Plaintiff was arbitrary andviolation of the student code adopted by the
Defendant,” [d. at T 34]; “[tjhe conduct of the Defenaaviolated Artick Il of the Kentucky

Constitution,” |d. at § 36]; “[a]s a result of the Defemda® arbitrary conducthe Plaintiff has

! Plaintiff cites the various instances of state funding the University has recaivé Plaintiff also notes that the
College is at least in part regulated by the state. [R. 42 at 10—11]. This fails to ovBeoded-Bakerwhich found

a private school to be a private actor even where “nearly all” of the students were referred by a state agency, the school
was heavily regulated under state laws] public funding “accounted for at le&§%, and in one year 99%, of [the]
school’'s operating budgetRendell-Bakerd57 U.S. at 830—32 (1982).
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suffered economic loss as well as embarrassment and humiliationat[6 § 37]. As such,
Plaintiff prays that this “Court find that the f2adant’s conduct was arbitrary in violation of
Article 1l of the Kentucky Constitution.”Ifl. at § 4]. This argumenhowever, like Plaintiff's
argument that the Fourteenth Amendment should apply, fails as a matter of law.

Section Il of the Kentucky Constitution provides “[a]bsolute and arbitrary power over the
lives, liberty and property of freemen exists nowhere in a republic, not even in the largest
majority.” K.Y. Const. 8§ 2. This provision isnderstood as a procedurhle process guarantee,
applicable exclusively to actions fairly attributable to the st@@nmonwealth Natural Res. and
Env't Prot. Cabinet v. Kentec Coal Co., Int77 S.W.3d 718, 724 (Ky. 2005). Section Il of the
Kentucky Constitution ensures that “the state is enjoined against arbitrarlde3is guarantee
under the Kentucky Constitution is generally unterd to be construed consistently with the
Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitu@eSmith v. O’'Dea939 S.W.2d 353
(Ky. App. 1997). Thus—like the durteenth Amendment ance&ion 1983—Section Il of the
Kentucky Constitution has no application.eTbniversity is not a state act@ee i Rendell-
Baker v. Kohn457 U.S. 830, 830-32 (1982); [R. 37-1 at 2 JA8]such, Plaintiff's claims under
the Kentucky Constitution must fail. Defemds are entitled to summary judgment.

CONCLUSION

“[T]he existence of a merscintilla of evidence inupport of the non-moving party’s
position will not be sufficient; there must badasnce on which the jury could reasonably find for
the non-moving party.Sutherland v. Mich. Dept. of TreasuB44 F.3d 603, 613 (6th Cir. 2003)
(citing Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inel77 U.S. 242, 251 (1986)). Plaintiff has failed to allege a
prima facie case under the Kentuokywil Rights Act. K.R.S. § 344.01et seq. McDonnell

Douglas Corp. v. Greert11 U.S. 792 (1973). Likewise, Plaffitias failed to show the presence
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of state action required for ttagplication of the Fourteenth Amendment, 42 U.S.C. § 1981, and
Section Il of the Kentucky ConstitutioRendell-Baker v. Kohm57 U.S. 830 (1982Fmith v.
O'Dea, 939 S.W.2d 353 (Ky. App. 1997); [R. 37-1 at 2 1 2].

Thus, for the reasons discussdiised on the undisputed fact§, IS HEREBY
ORDERED that Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgement, [R. 3STGRANTED. ALL of
Plaintiffs claims against Defendants, [R. 1-1], areHEREBY DISMISSED WITH
PREJUDICE.

This the 13th day of October 2017.

Signed By:
Edward B. Atkins ('l B A
United States Magistrate Judge
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